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The Turn Toward Confrontation:

The Soviet Reaction to the Marshall Plan, 1947

Scott D. Parrish
Lecturer, Department of Government

University of Texas at Austin

Introduction

The Soviet rejection of the Marshall Plan in the summer of 1947 has long been viewed as a

turning point in the development of the Cold War.  As Adam Ulam put it, “with the Marshall Plan,

the cold war assumes the character of position warfare.”  After the summer of 1947, it was no

longer simply differences on individual issues which divided the erstwhile members of the wartime

anti-Hitler coalition; rather, “it was the totality of foreign policies of each side that became the

object of attack by the other.”1  While this general point has been clear for some time, the

question has remained, however, just what sort of turning point the Marshall Plan represented.

Was the Soviet rejection of the plan in July 1947 merely the implementation of a policy of

confrontation with the West which had been formulated earlier, or did the American offer of aid

and the conditions attached to it provoke a fundamental reappraisal in Moscow of its policy

towards the West?

The answers which Americans have given to this question have been fundamental in

shaping their overall interpretations of the origins of the Cold War.  At the time, U.S. government

officials viewed Moscow’s response to the Marshall Plan as additional evidence of inherent Soviet

hostility and aggressiveness.  Following the Soviet rejection of the plan, the American ambassador

in Moscow, Walter Bedell Smith, described Soviet actions as “nothing less than a declaration of

war by the Soviet Union on the immediate issue of the control of Europe.”2  In his memoirs,

George Kennan, one of the intellectual authors of the Marshall Plan, also saw the Soviet response

as indicative of a Soviet desire to seize the substantial industrial and human resources of Europe.3

                                               
1  Adam Ulam, Expansion and Coexistence: A History of Soviet Foreign Policy, 1917-73 (New York: Praeger,
1973), 237.
2 Smith to Secretary of State, 11 July 1947, in U.S. Department of State, Foreign Relations of the United States:
Diplomatic Papers, 1947, vol. 3, p. 327 (Washington, DC: Government Printing Office, 1972), 340-41.  Volumes
from this series will hereafter be referred to as FR, followed by the year, volume, and page number.  See also Harry
S. Truman, Memoirs, vol. 2, Years of Trial and Hope, 1946-1952 (Garden City, NY: Doubleday and Co., 1956),
115-16.
3  George F. Kennan, Memoirs, 1925-1950 (Boston: Little, Brown and Co., 1967), 330.







4

from Moscow in 1947 looked no more comforting than that from Washington.  Far from pursuing

grandiose plans of expansion, Stalin and his comrades in the Soviet leadership viewed themselves

as relatively vulnerable, well aware that their country was much weaker in industrial and military

capability than the United States.  Accordingly, their prime concern was consolidating the

territory and security gains which the USSR had won in World War II.  Because of the relative

weakness of the Soviet Union, a policy of confrontation with the West would not serve this goal,

and might in fact undermine it.

Prior to the summer of 1947, then, available if still incomplete evidence suggests that

Stalin still hoped to pursue a variant of detente with the Western Powers.  While he understood

that the continuation of wartime levels of cooperation with the West would not be possible—since

the West refused to accept Soviet predominance in East Europe—he apparently still hoped to

reach a negotiated settlement on most areas of difference, especially on the question of Germany’s

future.  The Marshall Plan, however, radically changed Stalin’s calculus, and led him to shift away

from this more moderate line and to adopt a strategy of confrontational unilateral action to secure

Soviet interests.  The new archival documentation shows that in making this shift, the Soviet

leadership was moved primarily by fear of its own vulnerability to American economic power.

The vague wording of Marshall’s June 1947 speech made it difficult for the Soviet leaders

to reach definite conclusions about the purpose of his offer, and they initially hoped it might prove

to be a source of capital for the reconstruction of the war-damaged USSR.  As the details of the

American plan unfolded, however, the Soviet leadership slowly came to view it as an attempt to

use economic aid not only to consolidate a Western European bloc, but also to undermine

recently-won, and still somewhat tenuous, Soviet gains in Eastern Europe.  They feared that the

U.S. economic aid program sought to transform Stalin’s new chain of Soviet-oriented buffer

states into a revamped version of the “cordon sanitaire” of the interwar years.  The plan appeared

to aim at the reintegration of Eastern Europe into the capitalist economic system of the West,

with all the political ramification that implied.  Thus the Marshall Plan, conceived by U.S. policy-

makers primarily as a defensive measure to stave off economic collapse in Western Europe,

proved indistinguishable to the Kremlin leadership from an offensive attempt to subvert Soviet

security interests.

Confronted with the ambiguous American initiative, Stalin first hesitated, then assumed

the worst and acted accordingly.  The Soviet leader did not desire to provoke a confrontation

with the Western powers, but in the situation created by the Marshall Plan, he apparently felt that

he had no other choice.  The upshot was what we have come to know as the Cold War.  Here is
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where the new documentation can help us to clarify some of the old interpretive disputes in the

literature on the origins of that conflict.  The Marshall Plan does appear to have been largely a

defensive move on the part of the United States, as the orthodox scholars would have us believe.

But the story hardly ends there.  The plan had its “offensive” side as well, in that its authors did

indeed hope to lure some of the Eastern European states out of the Soviet orbit and integrate

them into the Western European economy.10  In this sense, the revisionists were correct to focus

on the economic motivations behind behind the plan, which was more than just a geostrategic

move to counter Soviet expansionism.  As for the Soviet response, as the new documentation

suggests, it was indeed largely defensive and reactive, even if it often relied upon crude offensive

tactics.

What the new documentation helps us see more clearly, then, is that the real difficulty and

source of conflict in 1947 was neither Soviet nor American “aggression.”  Rather, it lay in the

unstable international economic and political conditions in key European countries which led both

sides to believe that the current status quo was unstable, and that assertive action was required to

defend that status quo.  It was in this environment that the Western powers felt compelled to

design the details of the Marshall Plan in such a way that it would stabilize Western Europe, but

only at the cost of provoking a confrontation with the USSR.  And it was this same environment

that compelled Stalin to respond to the plan with a series of tactically offensive maneuvers which

fanned the flames of confrontation even higher.  This decisive moment in the emergence of the

Cold War was thus more a story of tragedy than evil.  Neither the West nor the Soviet Union

deliberately strove to provoke a confrontation with the other.  Instead, the fluid political and

economic conditions in postwar Europe compelled each side to design policies which were largely

defensive, but had the unfortunate consequence of provoking conflict with the other.

Prelude:  The Future of Europe and the Failure of the Moscow Conference

Since the defeat of Germany in May 1945, relations between the Soviet Union and the

Western Powers had been deteriorating, and by early 1947 the relationship between the members

of the wartime Grand Alliance was such that they could no longer regard one another as “allies”

in any real sense.  Their relationship, rather, had become characterized by substantial tension,

mitigated by continuing negotiation.  Each side in the nascent Cold War now viewed the other in

two different roles: as a partner in the ongoing negotiations to solve such questions of general

                                               
10  Ulam was quite wrong on this point.  Even a leader considerably less suspicious than Stalin, as will later be
documented, would have had ample reason to suspect that the Marshall Plan was more than just defensive, but did
in fact include significant elements of “rollback.”
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stagnant.  Reflecting this reality, after some gains in the first year after the war, the economic

recovery of Western Europe had begun to slow drastically in 1947.  Only increased economic aid

from the United States and/or the reintegration of German resources into the European economy

offered the possibility of stemming Western Europe’s economic hemorrhaging.

For the Soviet Union, too, the German question had economic importance, but political

issues also played a role.  On the economic side, the USSR wanted reparations from Germany in

the sum of $20 billion.  The Soviets wanted these reparations partly in the form of shipments of

dismantled German factories, but also in payments from current German production.  Given the

devastation caused by the war, the Soviet leaders viewed these reparations as a major source of

capital for reconstruction.  On the political side, the Soviets were concerned to prevent a possible

resurgence of German power.  To achieve this goal Soviet Foreign Minister Vyacheslav Molotov

argued for German demilitarization and the creation of a German political system that assured a

significant role for German Communists.

The Moscow conference proved unable to bridge the gap between Western and Soviet

concerns.  The Western powers refused to grant Moscow the reparations that were so crucial to

the Soviet leaders.  Without a deal on reparations, Molotov and Stalin remained unwilling to

compromise on the question of Germany’s political structure, nor would they agree to Western

proposals on the formation of an interim unified economic policy for all the occupation zones.

The conference dragged on in deadlock for over three weeks, with each side repeating its

arguments to its apparently deaf counterparts.

It was in this atmosphere that U.S. Secretary of State George C. Marshall spoke with

Stalin on April 15.  Marshall was deeply concerned with the failure of the conference to reach any

agreement on German economic unity, which had wide-ranging implications.  His advisor, Charles

Bohlen, reports that Marshall requested the interview to tell Stalin “how dangerous it was to leave

Germany in a chaotic and divided state.”13  After lamenting the failure of the conference and the

breakdown of cooperation in Soviet-American relations, Marshall told Stalin that the United

States hoped to aid “those countries that are suffering from economic deterioration which, if

unchecked, might lead to economic collapse and the consequent elimination of any chance of

democratic survival.”  At the end, Marshall stated that he hoped to “rebuild the basis of

cooperation which had existed during the war and that he had come to Generalissimo Stalin with

                                               
13  Charles Bohlen, Witness to History, 1929-1969 (New York: Norton & Norton, 1973), 262-63, quoted in
Taubman, Stalin’s American Policy, 157.
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Stalin particularly focused his queries on the possibility of government intervention

heading off a future economic crisis.  And he seemed more optimistic than Stassen that such

intervention could succeed.  These questions dovetailed with the views earlier advanced by the

influential Soviet economist Evgenii Varga.  In a book published in 1946, Varga had suggested

that the increased role played in the economy by the governments of the Western capitalist states

might make possible the emergence of a limited form of economic planning in those economies

after the war.  With such planning, Varga contended, these economies might be able to avoid

economic crises of the type that had caused the Great Depression in the 1930s.20  The implication

was that the Western powers would be more stable and hence less aggressive as a result of their

more stable economies and that consequently a moderate Soviet policy of cooperation with the

Western powers might pay large dividends.  In the latter part of 1947, once confrontation had

come to dominate Soviet-Western relations, Varga would be publicly pilloried in the Soviet press

and forced to recant this viewpoint.  By then, his views no longer comported with the thrust of

Soviet policy, but in April and March, he remained influential.21  Perhaps, then, Stalin was merely

gathering information in these conversations to confirm his impression that despite some

economic difficulties, the Western economies were not on the verge of collapse.  If this were the

case, then the lack of progress at the Moscow conference most likely signalled only that Stalin

was holding out for a better deal on Germany, primarily on reparations.

Nor, as we have seen, was Stalin inclined to cease searching for some sort of agreed

compromise solution to the difficulties dividing the USSR and the Western powers once the

conference adjourned.  At the end of his conversation with Stassen, he went out of his way to

underline his belief in the possibility of future cooperation, stating:

Of course they [the United States and the Soviet Union] could cooperate with one
another.  The differences between them did not have any great significance, since
one is speaking about cooperation.  The economic systems of Germany and the
USA are the same, but nevertheless war broke out between them.  The USA and
the USSR had different economic systems, however they did not fight one another,
but rather, cooperated during the war.  If two different systems could cooperate
during the war, then why could they not do so during peacetime?  Of course, it is
implied that if there is a desire to cooperate then cooperation between different

                                               
20  Eugene Varga, Izmeneniya v ekonomike kapitalizma v itoge vtoroi mirovoi voiny [Changes in the Economy of
Capitalism as a Result of the Second World War] (Moscow: Gospolitizdat,1946).  For an English summary, see
Leo Gruilow, trans., Soviet Views on the Post-War Economy (Washington, DC: Public Affairs Press, 1948).
21  For a discussion of the debate on economics in the USSR in 1945-48, see Werner Hahn, Postwar Soviet
Politics: The Fall of Zhdanov and the Defeat of Moderation, 1946-53 (Ithaca, NY: Cornell University Press,
1982), 84-94.
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systems is entirely possible.  But if the desire to cooperate is absent, then even
states and people of identical economic systems can come into conflict.22

The implication here was that although Stalin had some doubts about the desire of the West to

reach such a cooperative settlement, he did not rule it out.

Nor was this interview the last official expression of such a view.  The journal New Times,

which Stalin had established as forum during the war for criticizing the policy of the Western

Allies under the veil of a “free press,” offered an assessment of the results of the Moscow

conference which paralleled Stalin’s.  “The facts show,” said New Times in its lead editorial on 16

May 1947,

that the Moscow conference performed a work of no little value, bearing in mind
the complexity and importance of the German problem which it had under
discussion.  Unless one believes in miracles, it must be recognized that the working
out of agreed decisions on such a problem requires time, patience, good will, and
serious effort.  The value of the Moscow conference is that the position of the
powers on the disputed issues has become more clearly defined.  And this clears
the way—given good will on all sides—to the necessary, if exacting, work of
reconciling the different points of view and arriving at agreed decisions.23

That this position represented the official line is clear from an interview with a former Soviet

Foreign Ministry official, who recalled that New Times,  ostensibly published by a Soviet trade

union organization, was actually run out of Molotov’s office, with the foreign minister himself

often writing and editing the lead editorials.24  Just before the announcement of the Marshall Plan,

then, the Soviet leadership still viewed cooperation with the West as possible and desirable.

It also should be noted that this rhetoric continued despite the proclamation by President

Truman of what came to be known as the “Truman Doctrine.”  On 12 March 1947, Truman had

asked Congress to vote for economic and military aid for Greece and Turkey and called more

broadly for America to support “free peoples” against “direct or indirect aggression” by

“totalitarian regimes,” in a clear allusion to the Soviet Union.  Many historians have regarded this

                                               
22  J.V. Stalin, Sochineniya [Works], vol. 16 (Stanford: Hoover Institution Press, 1967), 76.
23  “The Prospects for International Cooperation,” New Times 20 (16 May 1947), 1.
24  Author’s interview with Valentin Berezhkov, December 1990. See also the memoir of another Molotov
assistant, Vladimir I. Erofeev, “Desyat’ let v sekretariate narkomindela,” Mezhdunarodnaya Zhizn’ 8 (August
1991), 124.
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speech as the opening salvo of the Cold War.25  So it was, from the American side, but the Soviet

leadership continued to act as if nothing substantive had changed.  As far as Stalin was concerned,

Truman’s declaration, and the aid he intended to send Greece and Turkey, did not substantially

alter the underlying dynamic of Soviet-Western relations.  All the statements underlining the

possibility of continued cooperation noted above were made after Truman’s speech.

Furthermore, the Soviet press reacted with relative moderation to Truman’s declaration.

New Times, while criticizing the speech and the aid to the “fascist” Greek and Turkish regimes,

and accusing the United States of aspiring to world hegemony, still noted that in the United

States, “more farsighted and circumspect elements” did not approve of the new policy.  And

reports from Soviet officials in the United States also suggested that the Truman Doctrine did not

represent the last word on the development of American policy.  Reporting on the reaction in the

United States to the announcement of the Truman Doctrine, the Soviet consul in New York,

Yakov Lomakin, cabled Moscow that “Truman’s speech ... provoked a serious wave of

dissatisfaction among the populace.”  He estimated that, “Without exaggeration, one can say that

70-80% of the American people are opposed to granting aid to Greece and Turkey for the reasons

put forward by Truman.”  Lomakin did not suppose that people opposed Truman’s plan because

they trusted the USSR.  Rather, he argued, they feared that Truman’s plan “could lead to war

between the Soviet Union and the United States.”26  This analysis, in tandem with those

comments noted above, suggested that cooperation with the United States remained possible, and

that the shift in American policies, while potentially troublesome, was not yet regarded as

permanent or decisive.

As William Taubman has pointed out, Soviet policy in Korea, of all places, underlined the

fact that Stalin’s statements about the possibility of cooperation were not merely empty rhetoric.

Like Germany, Korea had been divided into occupation zones following the surrender of Japan.

Northern Korea had been occupied by the Russians, while the Americans had control over the

South.  As in Germany, the two sides could not agree on the process of reunification.  Earlier

attempts to form an interim Korean government had foundered on the inability of the Americans

and Soviets to agree on which Korean groups to consult on this question.  In February 1947, the

Soviet side broke this deadlock by agreeing to U.S. proposals to speed the work of the joint

                                               
25  For recent interpretations in this vein, see Leffler, A Preponderance of Power, ch. 4, and Deborah Larson,
Origins of Containment: A Psychological Explanation (Princeton: Princeton University Press, 1985), ch. 7.  For
Truman’s speech, see Public Papers of the Presidents of the United States: Harry S. Truman, 1947 (Washington,
DC: Government Printing Office, 1963), 176-80.
26  Consul General Lomakin to Soviet Foreign Ministry, 19 April 1947, AVP RF, f. 0129, op. 31, p. 192, d. 12, 1.
19.
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visible.  The State Department is now working furiously on this plan.”32  The first analysis

Molotov and Stalin received from their embassy in Washington almost certainly increased their

suspicions of American intent.

To the extent that one can judge from available documentation, Soviet Foreign Minister

Molotov was also cautious in his initial assessment, but not as not so pessimistic as his

ambassador.  The original translation of Marshall’s speech into Russian that Molotov read is

heavily underlined, hinting at the interpretation he placed on it.  First, Molotov underlined the

sections that emphasized the seriousness of the economic situation in Europe.  He heavily

underlined not only the sentence:  “Thus a very serious situation is rapidly developing which

bodes no good for the world,” but also later Marshall’s remark that “It should be clear to

everyone what effects this could have on the economy of the United States.”  Molotov also

underlined the conclusion:  “the United States must do everything within its power so as to assist

in the return of normal economic conditions in the world.”

Secondly, as one would expect from the suspicious Molotov, he underlined the following

two sentences:  “Our policy is directed not against any country or doctrine, but against hunger,

poverty, desperation, and chaos,” as well as the phrase, “governments, political parties or groups

which seek to perpetuate human misery in order to profit therefrom politically or otherwise will

encounter the opposition of the United States.” Molotov then underlined and noted in the margin

three main points of the plan’s structure that Marshall alluded to in the closing paragraphs of his

speech: 1) that the European countries must come to an agreement about their economic

requirements; 2) that the initiative must come from the Europeans themselves; and 3) that the

American role should be limited to aid and support of such an economic program.33

What can one conclude (albeit tenuously) from Molotov’s underlining of the speech?

First, it seems that he concentrated on the self-interested motives of the Americans in putting

forward the proposal, by heavily marking in the margin Marshall’s warning about the effects on

the United States of an economic collapse in Europe.  He seems to have viewed the proposal as

motivated by economic necessity.  (Other evidence presented later also supports this conclusion.)

Second, Molotov seems to have suspected that the plan was directed against the Soviet Union in

that he circled the same passage as Novikov did in reaching this conclusion.  But Molotov’s

marking of Marshall’s three closing points suggests that he still sensed that possibly the proposal

                                               
32  Novikov to Molotov, 9 June 1947, AVP RF, f. 059, op. 18, p. 39, d. 250, 11. 207-209, printed in
Mezhdunarodnaya Zhizn’ 5 (May 1992), 118-19.
33  Translation of Secretary of State Marshall’s speech of 5 June 1947, AVP RF, f. 06, op. 9, d. 209, p. 18, 1. 2-5.
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could be turned to Soviet advantage; perhaps the Soviet Union could gain some much-needed

reconstruction credits from the United States.  That Marshall suggested the Europeans themselves

draw up the proposed aid program made this interpretation plausible.  It is quite possible that

Novikov was deliberately more pessimistic than his boss to protect himself from charges that he

was insufficiently vigilant.34

Molotov and Novikov had a firm foundation for their suspicions.  Most of the available

evidence indicates that the Western powers designed the aid program to ensure that Moscow

would not participate.  The Americans, the British, and the French all agreed that Soviet

participation would lead to protracted bargaining and delays in implementing any plan, since the

suspicious Soviet leaders would be sure to impose many difficult conditions on their participation.

The West Europeans and Americans were united on the need to move quickly.  If, as Marshall put

it, “the patient is sinking while the doctors deliberate,” then endless haggling with the Soviets had

to be avoided.35

In the days following Marshall’s speech, both the British and French governments

scrambled to put together a rapid response.  Desperate for the credits which Marshall was

offering, they were nevertheless on the horns of a difficult political dilemma.  For reasons of

efficiency and strategy, noted above, they did not want to include the USSR in their plans, but, on

the other hand, they had to put together an all-European plan of some sort for by the summer of

1947 it had become clear that the U.S. Congress would not approve any further piecemeal aid to

individual European countries.  American legislators felt that too much aid had already been sent

into the “black hole” of the European economies.  Thus any response to Marshall’s plan—if it was

to pass muster in the American legislature—had to take the form of an all-European plan which

held out the prospect of re-creating in the near future a self-sustaining European economy.  The

rub was that putting together such a plan also had to include a visible effort to include the Soviet

Union, because in France and Italy, two countries whose participation was deemed essential to

any successful program for Western European recovery, joining an economic plan which overtly

barred Moscow would be politically unacceptable.  In both countries, socialist-led governments

had only just that past spring excluded the Communists from governing coalitions and were

hanging on to bare majorities in their respective parliaments.  Any further action which would

antagonize the Left—as the deliberate exclusion of the USSR surely would—might throw these

countries into a political crisis.  As a result, even though British Foreign Minister Bevin and his

                                               
34  This sort of caution in reporting would hardly have been an irrational strategy for Novikov at the time, given
the fate of many Soviet diplomats purged in the 1930s.
35  “Radio Address of Secretary of State George C. Marshall,” Department of State Bulletin, 11 May 1947, 919.



16

French counterpart Georges Bidault did not desire Soviet participation in the American aid

program, they felt constrained to invite the USSR to collaborate in the initial planning.36

When Bevin and Bidault met in Paris a few days after Marshall’s speech, they were careful

to transmit to Moscow their desire to enter into consultations with the Soviets about a European

response to the American initiative.  As Bevin reported to London, “the main concern of the

French government was to disarm domestic criticism to the effect that Russia had not been given

in good faith a full and cordial opportunity to join in the discussions at the outset.”37  Thus,

following their discussions, Bevin and Bidault extended an invitation to Molotov to join them at a

meeting to be held in Paris the week of June 23.  Both Bevin and Bidault assured the U.S.

ambassador in Paris, Jefferson Caffery, however, that the invitation was little more than window

dressing to defuse potential leftist opposition at home.  Both separately informed Caffery that

“they hope the Soviets will refuse to cooperate and that in any event they will be prepared to ‘go

ahead full steam even if the Soviets refuse to do so.’”38

At the same time, the Soviet Foreign Ministry attempted to clarify both the intent of

Marshall’s speech and the nature of the Anglo-French discussions regarding a response.  In early

June, in a series of meetings with the French charge d’affaires and the British ambassador in

Moscow, Deputy Foreign Minister Jacob Malik attempted to discover if the British and the

French had any information other than the speech itself as to what the Americans intended.  He

was especially interested in details about the amount of aid the Americans might be prepared to

offer and what conditions might be attached.  Neither diplomat volunteered any further

information, however.39  Despite these assurances, the Soviet leaders must have suspected (and,

as we have seen, not without reason) that the British, French and Americans were already

planning a unified approach to the question.  Even the invitation to the conference in Paris

probably did not suffice to quell such apprehensions.

To supplement reports from the field, in early June Molotov requested that Evgenii Varga,

the economist mentioned above, assess the motives behind the Marshall Plan.  In response, Varga

                                               
36  William C. Cromwell, “The Marshall Plan, Britain, and the cold war,” Review of International Studies 8
(October 1982), 240; Henry Pelling, Britain and the Marshall Plan (New York: St. Martin’s Press, 1988), ch. 2.
37  “Bevin’s Report to the Cabinet on his Meeting with French officials,” 23 June 1947, Cabinet Meetings (CAB),
129 19, p. 2, Public Record Office, London, quoted in Cromwell, “The Marshall Plan, Britain, and the cold war,”
240.
38  Caffery to Secretary of State Marshall, 18 June 1947, FR:1947, 3:260.
39  “Memorandum of Conversation between Soviet Deputy Foreign Minister Malik and British Ambassador
Peterson,” 10 June 1947, and “Memorandum of Conversation between Soviet Deputy Foreign Minster Malik and
French Charge Charpantier,” 11 June 1947, AVP RF, f. 06, op. 9, d. 217, p. 19, 11. 12-25.
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submitted a report to Molotov on June 26 that, according to the foreign minister’s hand-written

notation on the cover, was circulated to Stalin and other senior Soviet leaders.40  Predictably,

Varga put forward an economic explanation, arguing that “[t]he economic situation in the United

States was the decisive factor in the putting forward of the Marshall Plan proposal.  The Marshall

Plan is intended in the first instance to serve as a means of softening the expected economic crisis,

the approach of which already no one in the United States denies.”  Varga then went on to outline

the dimensions of the economic crisis which he expected would soon overtake the United States.

He anticipated a twenty percent drop in production during this crisis, leading to the creation of a

ten-million man army of unemployed, and wreaking havoc on the American banking system.  As

to the political effects of these economic difficulties, he concluded that “the explosion of the

economic and financial crisis will result in a significant drop in the foreign policy prestige of the

United States, which hopes to play the role of stabilizer of international capitalism.”41

The Marshall Plan, then, wrote Varga, represented an attempt to forestall this crisis.  In

this view, the United States found itself compelled to increase exports in order to avoid the onset

of a serious economic depression.  To accomplish such an increase in exports, the United States

would grant credits to the European countries, even if they could not repay them.  Varga

observed that this expedient would prove especially beneficial to “monopoly capital.”  He

concluded:

Seen against this background, the idea behind the Marshall Plan is the following.
If it is in the interest of the United States itself to sell abroad American goods
worth several billion dollars on credit to bankrupt borrowers, then it is necessary
to attempt to gain from these credits the maximum political benefits.42

Thus, in Varga’s analysis, economic self-interest required the American capitalists to extend

credits to Europe in order to avoid economic catastrophe, even as they sought to extract a

political bonus from this dire situation.

                                               
40  “Report of Academician Varga to Foreign Minister Molotov,” 24 June 1947, AVP RF, f. 06, op. 9, d. 213, p.
18,1. 2. The complete distribution list included Stalin, Beria (head of State Security), Zhdanov, Mikoyan,
Malenkov, Voznesensky (all Politburo members), Vyshinsky (Deputy Foreign Minister), and Malik. Unfortunately,
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which is available on this topic, this gap at the highest level of decisionmaking imposes serious limitations on any
analysis of the decision to send Molotov to the Paris meeting. These limitations might be addressed if scholars
were allowed full access to the historical sections of the “Presidential” or Kremlin archive in Moscow.
41  Ibid., 1. 3.
42  Ibid., 1. 4.
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In the final section of his report, Varga explained why Marshall insisted that the European

countries put together a single, all-European plan for American aid.  He listed five reasons: 1) to

show American superiority over Europe, since all the European countries together must make the

request, rather than on a more equal bilateral basis; 2) the possibility “within the framework of a

unified plan of aid to Europe to put forward a demand for the economic unification of Germany

on a bourgeois basis.  In this way, the United States is striving for the creation of a unified front

of the bourgeois states of Europe against the USSR on the German question”; 3) “the possibility

of putting forward the demand of removing the ‘iron curtain’ as a precondition for the ostensible

economic reconstruction of Europe”; 4) to create pressure to form an anti-Soviet bloc in Europe

if the USSR refuses to participate; and 5) to blame the USSR if the plan fails.43

Varga’s analysis, like that of Molotov and Novikov, reflected a strong degree of caution

and suspicion, but it did not openly recommend outright rejection of the U.S. initiative.  The

report, while pointing out the “imperialist” motivations behind the proposal, did not explicitly rule

out Soviet participation, provided, of course, that any strings which the Americans might attach to

the aid were not unduly onerous.  In fact, since Varga contended that the United States must

grant credits or face economic catastrophe, his analysis implied that the USSR might be able to

obtain some of these credits without agreeing to unacceptable political conditions.  The final

section outlined likely American strategies for imposing such conditions, but stopped short of

asserting that the Soviet Union would be forced to agree to them.  One may infer from this

analysis that with astute bargaining, the Soviet Union might benefit from participation in a plan

largely motivated by American economic necessity.

Interestingly, the report dovetailed with Varga’s earlier analysis with respect to capitalist

states regulating their economies.  Were the Marshall Plan to succeed, the impending economic

crisis would be averted, at least temporarily.  Indirectly, here too, Varga seemed to counsel

moderation.  For if this sort of government intervention could forestall economic crisis in the

West, then the Western powers might prove more stable than traditional Soviet thinking

suggested.  If the United States could avert collapse from such economic “crises,” then it would

prove necessary to deal with the Western powers for a considerable period of time.  This

conclusion implied following a more moderate foreign policy encompassing at least limited

cooperation with the West. Strictly speaking, then, Varga’s analysis left the door open for Soviet

participation.44
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having proven unpopular both in the United States and in Western Europe, which did not want to

get caught up in a conflict between the USSR and the U.S. and had therefore remained aloof from

the “openly anti-Soviet program of Truman.”  Marshall’s Harvard speech and proposal, argued

Novikov, simply constituted a more subtle and politically acceptable tactic to involve the West

Europeans in support of American policies directed against the Soviet Union.47

Novikov characterized the underlying goal of the American initiative as “the hindering of

the democratization of the countries of Europe, the stimulation of forces opposing the Soviet

Union, and the establishment of conditions for the strengthening of the position of American

capital in Europe and Asia.”  Novikov’s analysis interpreted the Marshall Plan as an attempt to

roll back Soviet influence in Europe.  This impression is strengthened by his later comments on

the form in which Marshall put forward his proposal:

Externally, the “Marshall Plan” appears as if the United States has decided to give
the European states themselves the initiative in establishing a program of economic
reconstruction for Europe....But it cannot be doubted, however, that matters here
will not be decided without some prompting [from the U.S.].  This task,
apparently, is already being carried out by American representatives in the
appropriate countries.  It is to this end that the talks of [Undersecretary of State
for Economic Affairs Will L.] Clayton in London are directed.48

Novikov was not far off the mark in his reporting here.  In fact, Clayton did travel to

London shortly before the opening of the Paris conference, and held several meetings with Bevin.

The subject of these talks was a matter of speculation in the Western press, which Soviet

observers duly noted.49  At the meeting, Bevin and Clayton did indeed discuss ways of precluding

Soviet participation in the American aid program without incurring the political costs of openly

banning the USSR; Bevin also noted the possibility of luring some East European states away

from Soviet tutelage with American economic aid.50  The suspicious Novikov was right on target,
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Putting all these considerations together, Novikov, prudently avoiding definitive

statements in the absence of explicit instructions from Moscow, did not come to any far-reaching

conclusion.  American intentions were still too unclear for that, he argued, despite his clearly

voiced suspicions.  He recommended that the USSR attend the conference in Paris in order to

clarify both the scope of the proposed American aid program and the conditions under which that

aid might be offered, observing innocuously that “it will be possible to further develop our

position on the question of American aid after the concrete plans of the Americans, their

conditions, and so on become clear.”52  In addition, Novikov suggested that Soviet participation

would give the USSR the opportunity to shape the American aid program to Soviet advantage,

and to thus prevent its use as a tool for the formation of a Western European anti-Soviet alliance.

He noted:

Our relationship to the “Marshall Plan,” and to the meeting of the three ministers, I
propose, should be expressed in an attempt to gain a decisive role in the formation
of a program of the reconstruction and development of the national economies of
the European countries.  In the matter of granting aid we should strive for
preference to be granted to the Allied states, whose economies especially suffered
during the war.  Our participation in the design of the program will hinder the
realization of the American plans for the subordination of Europe and the creation
of an anti-Soviet bloc.53

On a related topic Novikov noted that since German resources would play an important role in

any plan for European recovery, the discussion of the plan would serve as a opportunity to again

raise the issue of reparations.  This comment implied that by participating in the process of

drawing up the plan, the USSR might receive not only American aid, but also further reparations

from Germany.54  Thus, while Novikov suspected that this latest initiative by the United States

was designed to build up a Western European bloc in opposition to the Soviet Union, he did not

rule out Soviet participation, which could bring certain benefits, both political and economic.

Soviet participation might even prevent the formation of a cohesive Western bloc.

The Paris Conference on the Marshall Plan and the USSR

All of these threads of advice and information were tied together in the instructions for the

Soviet delegation to the Paris conference, written by Molotov himself and presumably approved

by Stalin.  In his cover letter to Stalin, Molotov noted that the instructions were “insufficiently
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European countries.”58  In other words, the Soviet leaders would not accept a plan which limited

the East European states to their traditional role as suppliers of raw materials to the industries of

Western Europe.

On the question of German participation in any plan of American aid, the delegation was

instructed to take a hard bargaining stance, following Novikov’s suggestions.  The delegation was

to object to any use of German resources unless agreement could be reached on the now long-

standing Soviet demands for reparations and the establishment of four-power control over the

Ruhr.  If such an agreement could not be reached, then the Soviet delegation received instructions

to object to any use of German resources in such a plan on a zonal basis.  In tandem with these

policies, the instructions also directed the delegation to object to any attempt to transfer German

problems out of the competence of the four-power Allied control council for Germany, because,

as the instructions noted, in this council the Soviet Union retained veto power.59

Overall, then, the Soviet position coming into the Paris conference remained cautious, but

still moderate.  The instructions are generally negative, in the sense that they outlined potential

Western proposals to which the Soviet delegation must object.  They devoted little space to the

terms of a potential agreement.  But acceptance of an American offer of aid under certain

conditions was not precluded, and one suspects that when the Soviet delegation arrived in Paris

that the possibility of Moscow’s participation remained open.  In order to achieve Soviet

agreement, however, the West would have had to agree to a package deal which included

concessions on German reparations.  In addition, any aid program to which the Soviet Union

agreed would have had to be based on the aid requests of individual countries, only loosely

coordinated.  This concept stood in contrast to the one put forward by Marshall, which envisioned

a single, unified European plan.  As the instructions made clear, such a unified plan was

unacceptable to the Soviet government because it would enhance Eastern European economic

integration with Western Europe, and would institutionalize the subordinate role of the Eastern

European states as suppliers of raw materials.

The notion that the Soviet leadership remained undecided about how to respond to the

American proposal until after the Paris conference opened is reinforced by the behavior of the

Soviet delegation during the meeting itself.  When Molotov arrived in Paris, his delegation

numbered more than 100, far more than necessary if he had come simply to delay the proceedings

or to deliver a ceremonial refusal to participate.  The size of the delegation itself suggested a
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willingness to engage in serious discussion.60  Molotov seemed to believe that a cooperative

outcome was possible; American aid still might be offered on terms which would be acceptable to

the USSR.  The tone of his speech on the first day was quite moderate, and his main thrust

consisted of getting the Americans, who were not at the conference, to outline the proposed aid

program more clearly.  In this context, a French diplomat noted after the first day of the

conference that Molotov “has been unusually mild,” and that “the Soviets wish at all costs to

avoid giving the French or British a valid pretext to break with them.”61

Despite this promising beginning, the conference ultimately foundered on the question of

what sort of aid request to forward to the Americans.  The French and British wanted to set up a

multinational committee which would examine the aid requests of all European states and then

coordinate them, so as to make most efficient use of the aid.  The Soviets, on the other hand,

simply wanted to aggregate all the individual requests and forward them to Washington.  They did

not want to create any multinational institutions, which they argued would infringe upon the

“sovereignty” of individual states.  In addition, the issue of Germany again proved divisive.

Molotov wanted assurances that any German participation in the aid program would not

jeopardize possible reparations payments or lead to an increase in German industrial capacity.

The British and the French fudged the issue, but refused to agree to such terms.  When it became

clear that the French and British would not agree with the Soviet proposal, Molotov delivered a

harsh denunciation of the Western states and stalked out of the conference.  Essentially, the

Western states had attempted to impose exactly those conditions which the Soviet leaders had

defined as unacceptable in their pre-conference analyses.62

In his closing speech, on July 3, Molotov accused the Western powers of seeking to divide

Europe into two hostile camps and forecast what the adoption of the Anglo-French plan would

produce:  “This [plan] would lead England, France and a group of countries following them to

separate themselves from the other states of Europe, which would split Europe into two groups of

states and would create new difficulties in the relations between them.”63  The Soviet leaders

clearly feared that if they accepted the Anglo-French proposal, it would mean allowing Western
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Up until the Paris meeting on the Marshall Plan itself, strong evidence indicates that the Soviet

leadership remained uncertain about Western intentions, and had yet to depart from the

interpretations of American and British policies which had dominated Soviet thinking since late

1945.

Once the Czechoslovak delegation reached Moscow, they had to wait several hours before

their scheduled meeting with Stalin that evening.  In the meantime, some evidence suggests that

Gottwald, who in addition to serving as Prime Minister of the Czech government was also the

leader of the Czechoslovak Communist Party, had a face-to-face meeting with Stalin.  Eugen

Loebl, who as deputy minister of foreign trade accompanied the Czechoslovak delegation to

Moscow, recalls in his memoirs that after the delegation arrived,

While Gottwald rested after the journey, the other members of the Government
and some of the experts seated themselves in the drawing room.  Time dragged on,
but there was no sign of Gottwald.  [Foreign Minister Jan] Masaryk became
nervous and kept sending Pavel Reiman, head of Gottwald’s chancellery, to see
what was happening. On each occasion, Reiman reported that Gottwald was still
asleep.  Then suddenly Gottwald walked into the room, still in his hat and coat,
and said: “Everything is all right. I’ve just come to an agreement with Stalin.
We’re to see him this evening.72

In this manner, the non-Communist members of the Czechoslovak delegation were presented with

a fait accompli.  Under undoubtedly heavy pressure, Gottwald had apparently already acquiesced

in Stalin’s request that Czechoslovakia rescind its decision to attend the Paris preparatory

meeting.  At the delegation’s formal meeting with Stalin later that evening the other Czechoslovak

leaders had little choice but to ratify the decision which the two Communist party bosses had

already reached in private.

The meeting took place late at night, in accordance with Stalin’s nocturnal work habits.

Gottwald opened the meeting by stating that although Czechoslovakia had accepted the invitation

to the follow-on meeting in Paris, it had done so “with serious reservations, which give us the

possibility of a free decision.”73  Gottwald further emphasized that the Czechoslovak government
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might receive, he argued, would be on such poor terms as to “endanger [Czechoslovak] economic

and political sovereignty.”79 Here Stalin revealed his fear that American economic power might

effectively undermine the Soviet sphere of influence in Eastern Europe.  Under the guise of the

Marshall Plan, not only Western Europe, but also Eastern Europe, could be mobilized into an

anti-Soviet coalition.

If the Czechoslovak delegation went to Paris, Stalin noted, it “would show that you want

to cooperate in an action aimed at isolating the Soviet Union.”  Even attending the opening day of

the conference and then leaving, as Molotov had earlier suggested, would put the Czechoslovak

position “in a false light.”  It would be “a break in the front” of the Slav states, and “a success for

the Western Great Powers.”80  Stalin made it clear that he opposed Czechoslovak participation,

and his phraseology illustrates that he now viewed his primary task as consolidating his own

sphere of influence and hindering the incipient Western attempt to form a bloc against the USSR.

The Czechoslovaks, of course, both because of the power disparities in their relationship

with the Soviet Union, and because they had already decided that they would take no action to

antagonize the USSR, did not hesitate any further.  They revoked their decision to participate in

the Paris meeting.  The available evidence indicates that the Polish government retracted its

decision under similar pressure from Moscow.  On the morning of July 9, U.S. Ambassador

Griffis, in a discussion with Polish President Boleslaw Beirut, learned that the Polish government

had not yet made a final decision whether to go to Paris.  That evening, however, Griffis was

summoned back to the Polish Foreign Ministry, where he was informed that Poland would not

participate in the Paris meeting.  Foreign Minister Modzelewski contended that the conference

would be controlled by the British and French, and that Poland would receive little aid in any

case.  He also objected that the British, French and Americans apparently placed a greater priority

on rebuilding Germany than on helping Poland.81  These arguments were very similar to those

made by Stalin in his meeting with the Czechoslovaks, and had probably been transmitted to the

Poles from Moscow in a comparable manner.  Ambassador Griffis sent another cable to

Washington the following day in which he surmised that pressure from Moscow had led to the

last-minute Polish reversal.  He wrote:

In reference to [the] sudden change in Polish plans to send [a] delegation [to the]
Paris conference it is my distinct and firm impression that Foreign Minister
[Modzelewski] was honest in statement on Monday that delegation would attend
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New material from the CPSU archives demonstrates that Stalin and his lieutenant Andrei

Zhdanov, then the Secretary of the CPSU Central Committee assigned to work with foreign

communists, designed the meeting, its agenda, and the organization which emerged from it,

primarily as a response to the perceived threat presented by the Marshall Plan.  In a memo to

Stalin about the agenda of the proposed conference, Zhdanov wrote that it should begin with the

presentation of informational reports by the delegates of each party to “bring out sufficient

material to develop the agenda of the conference.”  Zhdanov then suggested that following these

reports, the Soviet delegates should put forward two items for discussion: “1) the international

situation, and 2) the coordination of the activities of the communist parties.”84

In the event, the agenda of the conference corresponded exactly with the course which

Zhdanov outlined in his memo.  The conference opened with a series of reports from the delegates

representing Eastern and Western European Communist parties.  Several of the reports indicated

the as yet incomplete nature of Soviet control in the countries of Eastern Europe.  For example,

according to reports sent back to Stalin by Zhdanov during the conference, the Hungarian

delegate Jozsef Revai noted that

the question of whether Hungary will become a people’s democracy or a bourgeois
democracy, whether Hungary will join the ranks of the countries of new
democracy or become a bastion of Anglo-American imperialism, is not yet
decided.  Currently in Hungary there exists a mixture of both one and the other
types of democracy, and which type of democracy will finally be established
depends on the energy, tactics, and talent of the Communist party.85
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strategic context.  Accordingly, Zhdanov bitterly criticized both parties for their “incorrect”

views. In his summary for Stalin of the report by the French delegate, Jacques Duclos, Zhdanov

wrote:

Duclos’ report made a very poor impression on us.  Duclos has not drawn any
lessons from the position of the French Party since its expulsion from the
government.  Instead, Duclos defends all the actions of the French Party. The basic
contents of Duclos’ report can be reduced to the following: the political situation
in France is evolving in the direction of reaction.89

What Zhdanov had in mind as the appropriate lessons which the French CP should have drawn

emerged at the end of his summary:

After this Duclos turned to a survey of the tactics of the [French] Communist party
and other parties during the last years, and at the end carried this story up until the
exclusion of the Communists from the government. In this discussion he defended
the tactics of the party and did not acknowledge any mistakes on the part of the
party leadership...The discussion of the helpless and unprincipled swinging of the
party from one parliamentary coalition to another made an extremely unfavorable
impression on the meeting.  The position of the party was placed in an especially
unfavorable light when Duclos turned to his conclusions.  All the hopes of the
party are linked with the upcoming municipal elections.90

In other words, until the Cominform meeting, the French party intended to pursue a “legal”

strategy which emphasized attempting to garner more votes and regain admission to the French

government.  The Italian party, too, outlined such a strategy in its report.91 Under the new

conditions created by the Marshall Plan, however, such tactics had, in Zhdanov’s eyes, become

obsolete.

Following the reports of the other delegations, Zhdanov give his famous report, “On the

International Situation.”  This speech is best known in the West as the first public declaration by a

Soviet leader of the division of Europe into “two camps.”  In the report, Zhdanov argued that

recent Western policies—especially the Marshall Plan—had highlighted the division of Europe

into a socialist, “democratic” camp (led by the USSR), and an imperialist, “antidemocratic” camp

(led by the USA).  Interestingly, a review of the rough drafts of the report in Zhdanov’s personal

papers in Moscow reveals that the explicit thesis of the division of Europe into “two camps”
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material resources for the rehabilitation of Western Europe.  In fact, the Plan’s terms were such

that it looked from the outset quite doubtful that the Soviet Union and East European countries

would accept it.

The British and French Foreign Ministers, Ernest Bevin and Georges Bidault, played the

decisive role in the discussion of Marshall’s offer with the Soviet Union.  They offered to hold a

meeting of foreign ministers of the three principal European powers—Britain, France, and the

Soviet Union—in Paris on 27 June 1947 to discuss Marshall’s proposals.  There is every reason to

assert now that Bevin and Bidault were playing a double game: claiming in public that they

favored Soviet participation in the implementation of the Marshall Plan, while assuring the US

Ambassador in Paris, Jefferson Caffery, “that they hope the Soviets will refuse to cooperate, and

that in any event they will be prepared ‘to go ahead with full steam even if the Soviets refuse to

do so.’”105

Initially, Moscow received with interest Marshall’s proposal, regarding it as an

opportunity to obtain U.S. credits for the postwar recovery of Europe and the USSR.  Soviet

Foreign Minister V.M. Molotov gave instructions for serious preparations to be made for the

Marshall Plan discussions.  On 21 June 1947 the Politburo CPSU(B) Central Committee (CC)

endorsed the Soviet government’s positive reply to the notes of the British and French

governments proposing the meeting of the three foreign ministers in Paris.106

The cables sent on 22 June 1947 to Soviet Ambassadors in Warsaw, Prague, and Belgrade

confirm that the Soviet Union took the matter quite seriously.  The ambassadors were instructed

to tell Boleslaw Bierut, Klement Gottwald and Josef Broz Tito—the Communist leaders of,

respectively, Poland, Czechoslovakia, and Yugoslovia—the following: “We consider it desirable

that the friendly allied countries should, for their part, make a corresponding initiative to ensure

their own participation in the elaboration of the economic measures under consideration and make

their own claims, in view of the fact that some European countries (Holland, Belgium) have

already stated such desires.”107
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At the same time distrust and warnings were constantly expressed inside Soviet official

circles.  For instance, the economist Yevgeny Varga asserted in a report to Molotov dated June

24: “The US economic position was of decisive importance in proposing the Marshall Plan.  The

Marshall Plan was meant primarily to be instrumental in resolving the imminent economic crisis,

the approach of which no one in the USA denies.  Thus, the USA, in its own interests, must grant

much greater credits than it has done heretofore - just to rid itself of surplus goods at home, even

if it knows in advance that part of those credits will never be repaid ... In this context, the

Marshall Plan’s aim was this: If it is necessary for the USA, in its own interests, to send abroad

American goods worth billions of dollars on credit to unreliable debtors, then it is necessary to try

to squeeze the maximum political advantages from this.”108

The Soviet ambassador to the United States, Nikolai V. Novikov, emphasized the political

aspects of the Marshall Plan in a telegram to Molotov on June 24: “In this context, the main goals

of U.S. foreign policy, the essence of the ‘Truman doctrine,’—to check the process of

democratization in European countries, to stimulate forces hostile to the Soviet Union and to

create conditions for the buttressing of the positions of American capital in Europe and Asia—

remain without any substantial changes.  A thorough analysis of the ‘Marshall Plan’ shows that, in

the final analysis, it is directed toward the establishment of a West European bloc as an instrument

of American policy...  Thus, instead of the haphazard actions of the past, which were aimed at

economic and political subjugation of European countries to American capital and to the

establishment of anti-Soviet groupings, the ‘Marshall Plan’ envisages a wider-scale action,

designed to solve the problem more effectively.”109

In that situation, the Soviet leadership sought to prevent the United States from obtaining

any economic and political advantages through the implementation of the Marshall Plan.  The

Soviet Union resolutely rejected any forms of U.S. control over the economy of the USSR and

the East European countries.  At the same time, the Soviet Union had a stake in obtaining U.S.

credits for its postwar rehabilitation.  Ambassador V.I. Yerofeyev, a former staff member in

Molotov’s Secretariat, defined the Soviet government’s stand thusly: “The best plan was to

accept that proposal and make an attempt, if not to eliminate, at least to minimize its negative

aspects and ensure that they should not impose any conditions on us.  In a word, it should be

something like Lend-Lease.  Comrade Molotov was, in fact, a supporter of just this kind of
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In the course of the Paris meeting the French delegation, led by Bidault, showed the

greatest zeal in search of a mutually acceptable compromise.  Molotov, however, stressed in a

coded telegram message from Paris to Moscow, sent after the second meeting, that the Soviet and

French proposals differed fundamentally.  “To [Bidault] I answered,” Molotov wrote, “that such a

difference exists and it boils down to the fact that the Soviet project limits the tasks of the meeting

and committees, which may be set up, exclusively to the discussion of the issues which are

directly related to the American economic assistance to Europe, whereas the French project

envisages also the design of economic programs which  encompass both the domestic economies

of European countries and issues concerning economic relations between them.”113

Early in the morning of June 30, Molotov received important information, which showed

the Western powers’ position in an extremely disadvantageous light, in a ciphered cable sent by

Soviet Deputy Foreign Minister Andrei Vyshinsky.  The information had been supplied through

the channels of the Soviet intelligence service.  The cable, alluding to London sources, informed

Molotov that as a result of meetings between U.S. Under Secretary of State Clayton and British

ministers, an agreement was reached on the following:

a) Britain and the USA agreed that the Marshall Plan should be regarded as a plan for the

reconstruction of Europe, not as assistance to Europe, and that it should not be a continuation

of UNRRA [United Nations Relief and Rehabilitation Administration).

b) Britain and the USA have agreed that the reconstruction of Europe may be achieved by

setting up of a series of functional committees for coal, steel, transport, agriculture and food,

under the leadership of one main committee.

c) Any organization set up for the realization of the Marshall Plan should operate outside the

United Nations framework.  That is explained by the fact that Germany is not a member of the

United Nations Organization.

d) Britain and the USA believe that Germany is still the key to the European economy.

Therefore it is, in fact, one of the bases of any plan for rehabilitation of the continent.

e) ...Britain and America will oppose payment of [German] reparations to the Soviet Union

from the current production.114

Throughout this period the Soviet leadership had well-placed informants of a special

nature in the British Foreign Office.  Thus Moscow’s privileged information from these espionage

sources about the principal results of Clayton’s London conversations was accurate.  During his
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Warsaw and Belgrade to tell Bierut and Tito that an unofficial visit of their envoys to Moscow

would be desirable “in order to adopt a coordinated stand on the Paris conference and avoid

unnecessary difficulties during that conference.”126

However, just a few hours later, Moscow beat a retreat. On the night of July 6, messages

were sent to Soviet ambassadors in Belgrade, Budapest, Bucharest, Warsaw, Prague, Sofia,

Tirana, and Helsinki with instructions to inform Bierut, Gottwald, Gheorghiu-Dej, Dimitrov,

Rakosi, Tito, Hoxha, and Kuusinen that “the CPSU(B) does not advise them to give any reply to

the British and French until July 10, for in some countries the friends [i.e., leaders of Communist

parties—M.N.] were against participation in the conference which is to be held on July 12, since

the USSR was not going to attend it.”127

The Stalinist leadership vacillated.  On the one hand, it wished not only to refuse to attend

the conference but also to spoil all the plans of its sponsors, that is, to leave the stage by

“slamming the door” after kicking up a row.  On the other hand, they realized that the temptation

of U.S. economic aid might prove too alluring for the governments of some East European

countries.  If one takes into account the coalition nature of the governments of Czechoslovakia

and Poland, with no absolute Communist control over the diplomatic services of those countries,

Moscow would have been hard pressed to bend their representatives to its diktat at the Paris

conference in specific cases.  For instance, Czechoslovakia was supposed to be represented at the

conference by its ambassador in France, Jiri Nosek.  In view of this, the Soviet ambassador in

France, A. Bogomolov, drew the attention of the Soviet leadership “to the fact that Ambassador

Nosek is well known as a conservative in domestic policy and as an advocate of a pro-Western

orientation in foreign policy.”128  Moreover, participation by People’s Democracies in the Paris

conference would seriously hamper the propaganda campaign launched by Western European

Communist parties against the Marshall Plan.

Finally, all those apprehensions took the upper hand.  On the night of July 7, Soviet

envoys in Belgrade, Budapest, Warsaw, Prague, Sofia, Tirana, and Helsinki received messages

with instructions immediately to hand deliver to Bierut, Gottwald, Gheorghiu-Dej, Dimitrov,

Rakosi, Tito, Hoxha, and Kuusinen the following CPSU(B) CC message:
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The latest information received by the Soviet Government about the July
12 Paris meeting revealed two facts.  First, the sponsors of the conference, the
British and the French, have no intention of introducing any changes in their plans
for the economic revival of Europe, without taking into account the interests of
sovereignty and economic independence of small countries.  Second, under the
guise of drafting plans for the revival of Europe, the sponsors of the conference in
fact are planning to set up a Western bloc which includes West Germany.

In view of those facts, the CC CPSU(B) cancels its message of July 5 and
suggests refusing to participate in the conference, that is, not sending your
delegations to the conference.

Each side may present its own reasons for its refusal.129

However, the Kremlin’s vacillations on July 4-7 had complicated the situation.  The

governments of Albania, Bulgaria, Hungary, Poland, Romania, Yugoslavia, and Finland acted in

compliance with the instruction, but difficulties arose in Prague.  When M. Bodrov, the acting

Soviet charge d’affaires in Czechoslovakia, on July 8 visited Gottwald, the head of the

Czechoslovak government, and handed over the message to him, the latter said that it was

impossible to change the Czechoslovak government’s decision to attend the Paris conference, for

“the government will not support us (communists).”  Gottwald was supported by Communist V.

Klementis, the state secretary for foreign affairs, who told Bodrov “that they will not be able to

change anything now, for they have already taken the necessary steps, the British and French have

been informed of their decision, and it has been carried by the press, Nosek in Paris has received

instructions to the effect that he is entrusted with the task of attending the conference.”130

An enraged Stalin demanded that a Czechoslovak government delegation immediately visit

Moscow, and on the morning of July 9, a delegation led by Gottwald duly flew to the Soviet

capital.  At first Stalin received only Gottwald, and according to the latter, furiously demanded

that the Czechoslovak government immediately cancel its decision to attend the Paris conference.

About five hours later Gottwald rejoined his colleagues, having promised that Stalin’s demand

would be fulfilled.  When Stalin received the entire Czechoslovak delegation at 11 a.m. he was in

a more placid mood.  He asserted that, according to the information received by the Soviet

government, the Paris conference was intended to become a part of a large-scale Western plan to

isolate the Soviet Union.  And he stressed the West’s stake in the rehabilitation of the German

economy, notably of the Ruhr Basin, which was to become the industrial core of the Western

bloc.  Sweeping aside mild protests by the Czechoslovak ministers, Stalin declared: “Participation

in that conference will present you in a false light.  This ‘breaking of the front-line’ would be a
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success for the Western powers.  Switzerland and Sweden are still vacillating, and your

participation would influence their decision.  We know that you’re our friends, none of us doubts

this fact.  But if you would participate in the Paris Conference you would give them a chance to

use you as a tool against the USSR.  Neither the Soviet Union nor its government could allow

it.”131

As soon as the Czechoslovak delegation returned to Prague on July 11, an extraordinary

meeting of the Czechoslovak government was held, lasting for almost a whole day.  In closing the

meeting, William Siroky, the deputy head of government, read out a new decision: the

government unanimously cancelled its decision attend the Paris conference on the Marshall Plan.

Czechoslovak Foreign Minister Jan Masaryk is said to have told friends: “I went to Moscow as

the Foreign Minister of an independent sovereign state; I returned as a lackey of the Soviet

Government.”132

An analysis of the Soviet stand on the Marshall Plan leads one to the conclusion that the

establishment and consolidation of Soviet control over the countries of Eastern Europe was the

first priority of Moscow’s foreign policy strategy.  Stalin considered the Soviet zone of influence

to be the most important legacy of World War II.  He was not going to make any concessions to

the West in that region, for at that time the Soviet government regarded control over that sphere

of its influence as most essential for imperial, geopolitical, and ideological considerations.  The

Soviet leadership saw the United States of America as its main rival in the international arena and

bent every effort to prevent the United States from expanding its influence in Europe.  Any

attempt to set up a Western bloc, dominated by the United States, was simply intolerable to

Moscow.

Paradoxically enough, implementation of the Marshall Plan without Soviet participation

and with strong opposition by the USSR to a certain extent suited both sides.  The Soviet Union

retained and consolidated its influence in the countries of Eastern Europe, whereas the USA and

its partners in the Marshall Plan had an opportunity to carry out a set of measures to stabilize the

socio-political situation in Western Europe and, later, to set up a military-political Western

alliance.  The actual realization of the Marshall Plan and the sharply negative Soviet reaction to it

marked an important turning point on the way to the split of Europe.  The concept of Europe’s

division into spheres of influence, to which the US ruling circles had earlier been opposed,

triumphed.
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